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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

YAROSLAV SKLYARSKY, )
)

Plaintiff, )

V. 13 C 859

)
)
HARVARD MAINTENANCE, INC., )
)
)
)

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

CHARLES P. KOCORAS, District Judge:

Pro sePaintiff Yaroslav Sklyarsky (“Sklyarsky’)broughtthis action against
his former employerDefendant Harvard Maintenance Inc. (“Harvard”) allggin
discrimination based on national origin and retaliatromiolation of Title VIland 42
U.S.C. 8§ 1981.Sklyarsky moved for summary judgmenirsuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 56 Harvard crosdiled for summary judgment. For the following
reasons, Harvard’s motion is granted, and Sklyarsigsion is denied.Harvard’'s
motion for sanctions is denied.

BACKGROUND
The following facts are derived from the parties’ respecstatements and

exhibits filed pursuant to Northern District of tibis Rule 56.1“Local Rule 56.1")
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The Court eviews each Local Rule 56.1 statement and disregards any argument,
conclusion, or assertion unsupported by the evidence in the record.

Sklyarsky isa male United States citizen dfkrainian national origin.
Sklyarsky began working as austodianwith ABM Janitorial Servicein Chicagq
lllinois in 1999 exclusively working atthe 300 S. Riverside Plaza building in
Chicago, lllinois After hisbuilding's contract for janitorial services wasnsferred
to Harvard,Sklyarskybegan employment withHarvard on April 1, 2010Harvard is
a corporation which provides janitorial services to owners and operators of
commercial buildings. Harvard’s janitorial employees ra@esented bthe Service
Employees International Union Local 1, which negotiate@tandard Agreement
Contractors contract*Union Agreement”) with Harvard. Th&Jnion Agreement
governswages hours, working conditiong@nd other conditions of employment,
including discipline. The Union Agreement sets liothe requirement that all
disdpline must be accorded in a progressive manner. Harvard is required toyabide b
the contractual terms of tHgnion Agreement in the treatment of their employees.
Aside from theUnion Agreement Harvard maintaiad their ownset of Company
Work Ruleswhich categorized disciplinary offenses iniwo separatgroups based
on their severity Major and Minor Rule Violations. Sklyarsky received a copy of
these rules and signed the Company Work Rules prior to beginning with Harvard i

2010.



On August 2 201Q Sklyarsky received his first written warning from his
immediate supervisor ViolatStosic (“Stosic”) for insubordinatiorlnder Harvard’s
Company Work Rulesnsubordination is Major RuleViolation. Stosic sent a letter
to Harvard’s Management on tlsameday of the infraction detailingklyarsky’s
opposition to being assigned extra work when the janitorial staffing was shetp du
other individuals calling off work. Sklyarskyreatened to sue Stosiéor assigning
him more work. Following Stosic’swritten reprimand Sklyarsky filed a complairgn
August 11, 2010,with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
("EEOC”) claiming discriminatia based on his national origin

On October 28, 2011, Stosic issued a secondary written warning tarskily
for insubordination.Harvard’swritten incidentreport of the October 2011 encounter
between Stosiand Sklyarsky describes how Sklyarsky wanted to take a picture of an
employee seniority list placed on the wall of Hadiaroffice. After being wared
that he was not allowed to take a photograph, Sklyarsky still proceedaélet@a
picture of the list. After the picture was takenbrief exchange between Stocis and
Sklyarsky ensued and Sklyarsky was issued a written wafomgsubordination
Sklyarsky filed a grievance with the Uniaoncerning the written warnindgput the
Union declined to take the dispute to arbitrati®klyarsky filed a retaliation charge
with the EEOC on December 7, 2011 because he felt thatasebeing retaliated
agains for filing the earlier August 2010disaimination claim with the EEOC.On

January 3, 2012, the EEOC issued a Notice of Riglfue stating that they were



unable to determine that a violation Tfle VIl occurred as described in the August
2010discrimination claim

John Karpierz (“Karpierz”) took over as Sklyarslsy’supervisor in February
2012 At some point soon after Karpierz assumed his position as @&geran
Sklyarskyattests that Karpre laughed at his mixed use of Polish and Ukraini@m
March 22, 2012 Sklyarsky was issued a written warning for inadequate job
performance by Karpierz. The written warning specifies that Sklyads# not
adequately clean the desks assigned to himya&tytried to remedy the inadequate
cleaning but his attempt was deemed to be poor and a secondary janitor had to finish
the job. Under Harvard’s rules of conduct, poor work performance is a Minor Rule
Violation. Shortly after his reprimand on March5,22012, Sklyarskysent a
“Complaint about Discriminatory Actions” to Harvard’s Human Resource hkma
Tatiana Domliaja (“Domliaja”). In the complaint Sklyarskyetailed his distaste for
Karpierz, his ineffective management style, and alscatied thahe feltas though
he was a victim of discrimation Sklyarsky filed a grievance with the Union,
concerning the written warning; however the Union declined to take the dispute to
arbitration.

On June 4, 201Aanother incident occurred whefarpierzimposed aoneday
suspension for Sklyarsky’s failure to adequately clean the areas assigmeddnd
insubordination. The Harvarcdhaident report details that Sklyarsky failed to clean

multiple areas that he was assignadhich required Karpie to finish the work



himself. When Skharsky was confronted with threeed to timely finish his assigned
responsibilitiesor alternativelyinform the supervisor ahead of time o$ lmability to
complete the job, Sklyarsky stated that he was being disaied against because he
wasUkrainian Harvard’s incident report states thédrpierz informed Sklyarsky that
he did not care if he were “Blue, Green Purple’ all he wanted was cooperation. In
conjunction withSklyarsky receiving avritten notificaton of a suspensiome signed
a Last Chance Agreement on June 8, 204i2ecifying “[tlhat the employee
acknowledges and understands that if he demonstrates any furtherfimmnaece
related deficiencies or displays poor conduct within twelve (12) manttiee date of
this Last Chance Agreement, his employment with the [Harvard] will be teedifat
Sklyarsky filed a grievance with the Union, concerning gshspensionhowever the
Union declined to take the dispute to arbitrati@klyarsky filed adiscrimination and
retaliation claimwith the EEOC oduly 2, 2012

On January 2, 2013, Karpierz issued a secondary suspension to Sklyarsky for
participating inpersonal conversations with another employee during work hours.
Both Sklyarsky and the other elopee, Andres KuspdfKusper”), weredisciplined
On January 7, 2013klyarsky and the Union were notified writing by Harvard’s
GeneralManager, Jim Postelnik, that Sklyarskgmployment would be terminated
on January 18, 2013, pursuant to the terms otJtlien Agreementfor a history of
poor job performanceand other discihary infractions culminating witlthe events

that occurred on January 2, 2013. Sklyarsky filed a grievance concerning this



suspensiorwith the Union, which declined to take the dispute to arbitratioBn
January 30, 2013, the EEOC issued a Notice of Right tac@umerning Sklyarsky’s
July 2, 2012 discrimination claim

On April 17, 2013 Sklyarsky fled another charge of discrimination and
retaliation with the EEOC concerning his termination frelarvard On April 30,
2013, the EEOC issued a Notice of Right to Saecerning Sklyarsky’s termination
claim.

On February 15, 2013, Sklyarsky filed a tamunt complaint alleging:
discrimination in violation of42 U.S.C. § 1981 Count 1);and discrimination in
violation of Title VII (Count 2). On July 12, 2013, Harvard filed abuse ofjudicial
process counterclaimnder Federal Rule of Civil Procedurd (‘Rule 11”). On
February 6, 2014Sklyarsky moved for summary judgment under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 56. Soon after on April 9, 2014 Harvard moved for summary
judgment.

LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, discovery, disclosures
and affidavits establish that there is no genuine issue of material dabttlsat the
movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 5@/if@ley v.
CookCnty, 563 F.3d 598, 6023 (7th Cir. 2009). The moving party bears the initial
burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exiStdotex Corp. v.

Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986). The burden then shifts to thenawng party to



show tirough specific evidence that a triable issue of fact mesnam issues on which

the noamovant bears the burden of proof at tritkd. The noamovant may not rest
upon mere allegations in the pleadings or upon conclusory statementdanitsfihe

mug go beyond the pleadings and support his contentions with proper documentary
evidence. Id. The court considers the record as a whole andsdedweasonable
inferences in the light most favorable to the party opposing the mddiaw.v.
Cassens Transpb Co., 212 F.3d 969, 972 (7th Cir. 2000). A genuine issue of
material fact exists when “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury coatdaet
verdict for the nonmoving partyAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 248
(1986).

The Court lears “a special responsibility” to construepeo se litigant’s
complaints liberally. Donald v. Cook County Sheriff's Dep®5 F.3d 548, 555 (7th
Cir. 1996). It is the “wellestablished duty of the trial court to ensure that thenslai
of apro selitigant are given a fair and meaningful consideratioR&lmer v. City of
Decatur, Ill., 814 F.2d 426, 4289 (7th Cir. 1987) However;[a] lawsuit is not a
gane of hide the peantt. Greer v. Board of Educ. City of Chicago, ,Il67 F.3d
723, 728 (7thCir. 2001). Employmentidcrimination cases aneery factintensive,
and district courts are not required under our “adversary system totkeorecord
looking for factual disputes . . .Waldridge v. American Hoechst Car@4 F.3d 918,

921-22 (7thCir. 1999
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DISCUSSION

Sklyarsky deges in his complaint that Harvard violated Title \dhd
42U.S.C. § 198Dver the course of his employmerklyarskys cryptic complaint
alleges discrimination in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 in Count Thereatfter,
Sklyarskyincorporates higitle VII discrimination and retaliationlaims intoa single
count,Count 2. The Court will initially review the merits obklyarsky’s Title VII
claims then proceed with his 42 U.S.C. § 18&im. Finally, the Court will address
Harvad’'s Rule 11abuse of process claim.

At the onset of our analysishe Court notes that Sklyarskytertwinesthe
overwhelming majority of higlisciplinary citationswith the permissibility of those
censuredactions under hisUnion Agreement Sklyarsky’'s February 4, 2013
Complaintspecifically designatesitle VIl and 42 U.S.C. § 1981 as the only causes
of action heseeks relief under, as/idenced in its title;Complaint of Employment
Discrimination.” The Court determines tl&klyarsky has not broin a separate and
independent state law claim for wrongful terminatiorherefore for the purpose of
resolving the instant motions for summauggment the Court will rely on the Union
Agreemenbnly in the context of gauging the propriety of the dikecgyy procedures

employed.



I. Sklyarsky’s Motion to Strike

As a preliminary matterSklyarsky moves to strike numerous portions of
Harvard’s supporting evidence and their motion for summary judgmestignt to
Local Rule 56.1(b).Local Rule56.1(b)“is designed, in pd, to aid the district court,
which does not have the advantage of the parties’ familiarity with the randrdften
cannot afford to spend the time combing the recorddaté the relevant information,
in determining whethea trial is necessaryDelapaz v. Richardsqr634 F.3d 895,
899 (7th Cir. 2011). Local Rule 56.1(b)(3)(A) requires the nonmoving party to
respond to each numbered paragrapthe moving party’s statement. Additionally,
where the nonmoving party disagsewith a statement they must providespecific
reference to an affidavit, part of the record or pthepporting material they are
relying on as the basis for their disagreemddgcause motions to strike can be used
as delay tactics, they are generally not a favpeetiof motion practicdJnited States
v. 416.81 Acres of Lan814 F.2d 627, 631 (7th Cir. 1975).

Sklyarsky perplexinglyargues that Harvards crossmotion for summary
judgment has no legal basisd is unnecessarily duplicativendthereforeit should
be stricken Sklyarsky also argues that Harvard’'s response to his Statement of
Material Factis not in accordance withocal Rule 56.1b). The Court deems
Harvard’scrossmotion for summaryudgmentto be timely and properly filed ued
Local Rule 56.1. Upon examination of Harvard’'s response to Sklyarsky’'s $tdtem

of Material Fact, Harvard adequateigsponds to each numbered paragragh



required by Local Rule 56.1 (b). Where Harvaidagreesvith a statementthey
sufficiently syply the necessary citation to the recasd dictated by Local Rule 56.1.
The Court denieSklyarsky’s outstandingiotions to strike.
[I. Discrimination in Violation of Title VII

A. National Origin Discrimination

Title VII prohibits employers fromdiscriminat[ing] against any individual
with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of enmgibym
because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origl).S.C.
§2000e2(a)(1). Sklyarsky alleges that he experienced discrimination on the basis of
his national origin. Sklyarskymay establish his discriminatioclaim under Title VII
by either the direct or indirect metha8ilverman v. Board of Educ. of the City of
Chic,, 637 F.3d 729, 733 (7th Cir. 20113klyarskybriefly notes that he can establish
his claim under the direchethod,however he mainly relies on the indirect method to
establish the discriminatory intent of Harvar@&mployment actionsThe Court will
consider the evidence under both the direct and indirect methods of proof.

1. Direct Method

Under the direct method the court considers direct andnegtauntial evidence
of discrimination.Rudin v. Lincoln Land Cmty. Cqll420 F.3d 712, 720 (7th Cir.
2005). “Directevidence is evidence which if believed by the trier of fact, will prove
the particular fact in question without reliance on iefee or presumption. . stated

differently, direct evidence essentially requires an admission by thsiateiaker

-10-



were basd on the prohibited animud-dossark v. Floor Covering Ass’n of Joliet, Inc.
492 F.3d 853, 861 (7th Cir. 2007). Direct evidence of a defendant admitting
discrimination is rare, so most cases preven by circumstantial evidenceld.
“Circumstantial evidence, unlike direct evidence, neext directly demonstrate
discriminatory intent, but rather it allows a jury to infer diséniation by the decision
maker for maker for suspicious words or actiold’ at 862.

Under the direcimettod approach, Sklyarsky hdailed to providesufficient
direct or circumstantiatvidence to support his contention that Harvard discriminated
against him because of his national origifthe only evidence in the record that
vaguely mentions Sklyarsky’Ukrainian originis the singular comment made by
Karpierz in which hdaughedabout Sklyarsky’s mixed use of Polish ddkrainian
Any discriminatory intent which can be gleaned from this limited comnment
counteredby KarpieZs later commentindicating that he das not care if Sklyarsky
was “Blue, Green, or Purplg all he wanted was cooperation. This single incident,
where Sklyasky’s national origin was alluded woesnot supportan inference of
national origin discrimination. Otherwise the record is devoid of anglirect or
circumstantialevidence suggesting that Harvard: (1) issued warn2yssuspended
him, or (3) terminated him based bis Ukrainian descent. Sklyarsky has failed to
establish a genuine issue of maikfact under the direct methatierefore Sklyarsky

must proceed under the indirect method.
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2. Indirect Evidence

Sklyarsky may prove his claim under the indireotthod by establishing
(1) he is a member of a protected cla®y;his job performance met his emploger
legitimate expectations; (3) he suffered an adverse gmglot action; and (4) at least
one similarly situated employee, not in his protectedsclagas treated more
favorably.See Naik v. Boehringer Ingelheim Pharm., i6R7 F.3d696, 59900 (7th
Cir. 2010) (citingMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedl11 U.S. 792 (1973))If these
elements are established,alimination isinferredand the burden of production shifts
to the defendants to raise a legitimate, -d@metriminatory reason for the adverse
employment actionNaik, 627 F.3d at 600.0Once a legitimate reason is offered, the
inference of discrimination is rebutted, and phentiff must establish that the offered
reason is a pretext for unlawfdiscrimination.ld.

Sklyarsky claims that Harvardhpermissibly (1) issued a written warning on
October 28, 2011 for insubordinatidaward an assistant supervis¢g) issued a
written warning on March 22, 20%2r inadequate job performancg) imposd a
oneday suspension on June 8, 2012 for insubordination and poor job performance
and required his assent to the Last Changeedmentand(4) imposed an additional
suspension Anuary 3, 2013or prohibitedconversations during work hours. While
Sklyarsky was serving his suspensibe was terminatedn January 18, 2013The
partiescontest the second and forth elemaritSklyarsky’s prima facie casethether

Sklyarsky was megtg Harvard’'s legitimate job expectations awtiether hewas
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treated less favorably than similarly situated employeéside of his protected class.
The Court will address each of the contested issues in turn.

a. Legitimate Job Expectations

Sklyarskyseems to contend that his Union Agreement permits him to perform
all the activities that he was reprimanded for. Siheebelieved higonduct was
permitted, Sklyarsky reasons that an inference can be made that tipindisc
actions taken against hirwere because of his Ukrainian originSklyarsky’s
reasoning is flawed. Aside from Sklyarsky’s unsupportadcusation of
discrimination Sklyarsky does not specifically refute that his conduct violated
Harvard’s Company Work Rules atidat his terminationoccurredas the result of
theseviolations, which procedurd} were carried out in accordance with the Union
Agreement. After multiple written warnings where levied, a final defmitvarning
of termination was given in the form of a Last Chance Agreémé&he Last Chance
Agreement fits into the rubric of progressive punishment allowed undddritoa
Agreement. Furthermore, Harvard notified Sklyarsky’s Union of its contéimplaf
terminating Sklyarsky due to his repeated disciplinary infractiaanich is required
under the Union Agreement. Therefore, Harvard’s methodology of reprimanding
Sklyarsky was procedurally sound under the Union Agreement.

Harvard points to Sklyarsky’srecord ofcontinuous problematic behavior as
support for their contertn that he was not meeting thkegitimatejob expectations

During the course of Sklyarsky’s employment with Harydel amassed the dubious
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disciplinary recordof a singularverbal warning, three written warnings, and two
suspensionghe last endingn his termination Domlija, Harvard’sHuman Resource
Manage confirmed that noother employee had amassed such an extensive
disciplinaryrecord over a comparable employment time period.

Sklyarsky’s punishmentincreased in severity with each progressa/
performancesengire, ultimately culminating in his termination in Janu&@13. With
this in mind the Court willdeterminewhether Sklyarskywas meeting Harvard’s
legitimatejob expectations at the time of his dischafermmett v. Lee Enterproises,
Inc., 284 F.3d 742, 745 (7th Cir. 2002)ln June 2012 after receiving his first
suspension, Sklyarsky signed a Last Chance Agreement on June 8, 2012 specifying
“[tlhat the employee acknowledges and understands thhe ilemonstrates any
further job perfomance related deficiencies or displays poor condudtinviivelve
(12) months of the date of this Last Chance Agreement, his employment with the
[Harvard] will be terminated.” Subsequently on January 2, 2013, Karpierz issued a
secondary suspension to Sklyarsky for conducting personal conversations with
another employee during work hourSklyarsky was aware that his employment with
Harvard was tenuous, after signing the aptly named, Last Chance Agreanent
Sklyarsky continued with his unacceptable hitva Pursuant to the terms of the Last
Chance Agreement, Sklyarsky was terminat&tlyarsky was terminated due to his
violation of Harvard’s Company Work Ruleznd his punishment waprocedurally

executedn accordance with the terms of the Union Agrent.“This Court will ‘not
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sit as a supepersonnel department that reexamines an entity’s business decision’ in
cases where discrimination is allegeddng v. Children’s Memorial Hosp993 F.2d
1257, 1262 (7th Cir. 1993kiting Dale v. Chicagalribune Company797 F.2d 458,
464 (7th Cir. 1986)

The Cout finds that Sklyarsky did not eet Harvard's legitimatejob
expectationgt the time of his termination

b. Similarly Situated Individuals

Even if we were to assume thaklyarskyhad sufficiently established thdte
had metHarvard’'s legitimate job expectations at the time of leignination he
nevertheless fails to identify a similarly situated esgpk who was treated more
favorably To determine if employees are similarly situhtihe ourt must find that
there are “sufficient commonalities on key variables between tuatiffl and the
would becomparator to allow the type of comparison that, taken together with the
other prima facie evidence, would allow a jury to reach anrenfe of
discrimination.”Humphries v. CBOCS West, Ind74 F.3d 387, 405 (7th Ci2007)
Although the similarly situateshquiry is a “flexible, common sense onéjénry v.
Jones 507 F.3d 558, 5647th Cir. 2007), the comparators must be similar enough that
any differences in thetreatment cannot be attributed to other variablése Senske
v. Sybase, Inc.588 F.3d 501, 5107t¢th Cir. 2009) (noting that the difference in
performance history wouldlilute an effective employee comparisam an age

discrimination case “If an emgdoyer takes an action against one employee in a
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protected class but not another outside that class, one can infer daiatomi
Coleman v. Donaho&67 F.3d 835, 847 (7th Ci2012) The relevant inquiry focuses
on whether the employer subjected two different classes of employeesrdiffdd.

Sklyarsky has provided the name of twndividuals, Kusperand Francisek
Zaremba (“Zaremba”), that he asserts was treated more afdyothan him.
Sklyarsky has not provided sufficient information concerning Kuspetarembao
render an adequate comparisoihe record is devoid of any further information
concerning Zaremba, who was initially included in SklyarslyEOC complaintas a
similarly situated individual. As for Kuspehéd record does not indicatés position
or his disciplinary history. Although Kusper was issued a written warning for
engaying in the same conduct Sklyarsky was eventually terminated for, this fact only
tells half the story. The progressive disciplinary system that Haradheres to
increasesthe severity of pushment after every disciplinary actionThe final
suspension which led to Sklyarsky’s termination was his fourth discipliraigna
Without Kusper’s priordisciplinary recordr his position it is impossibl® gauge the
appropriateness of his written warnirigr the purposes of assessing if he is similarly
situated See Senské88 F.3d at 510 (specifying variables of distinction between
similarly situated employees include positions, performance or Ssupesyis

Harvard has provided evidence that they have disciplined othedkmamian
employees for the santevel of offenses Sklyarsky was disciplinéor. During the

twelve montls preeding Sklyarsky’s termination Harvar() terminated twenty five
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nontUkrainian employees for the same category ofnsféeSklyarsky was terminated
for; (2) issued verbal warnings to four nbikrainian employees for the same
category of offense Sklyarskyas issued a verbal warning fdB) issued written
warnings to two noitkrainian employees for the same category of offense Sklyarsky
was issued a written warning famd (4) issued Last Chandgreementgo two non
Ukrainian employees for the same catggof offense Sklyarskyvas issued a Last
Chance AgreementSklyarskyhasfailed to showone comparablesimilarly situated
employeehat was treated more favorably than he was.

Sklyarskyhas not met his burden of showing that he met Harvard’s legitimate
job expectations or that similarly situated individual's received morerdie
treatment. Because Sklyarsky has not established a prima facie case fo
discrimination, it is unnecessafigr us to reach the issue of pretext. Harvardotion
for summary judgment is grante@klyarsky’s motion for summary judgment is
denied.

B. Retaliation

Sklyarsky alleges thdte was retaliated against aftdmg his initial EEOC
discrimination chargeand four subsequent EEOC chargeser the course of his
employment Sklyarsky alleges that each disciplinagtionthat was assessadter
his August 2010 discrimination chargeatsributed to Harvard’s illegaktaliation

The antiretaliation provision of Title VII prohibits an employer from taking an

adverse employment agti against an employee becausefilem an employment
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discrimination charge.See42 U.S.C. § 20008(a); Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R.
Co. v. White548 U.S. 53, 62 (2006). As with discrimination claims under Title VII,
retaliation may be proven through either the direct or@utimethod.See Weber v.
Univs. Research Ass’'n, In621 F.3d 589, 592 (7th Cir. 2010%klyarskyrelies on
the direct method to establish his retaliation claim.

1. Direct Method

To prove retaliation throughthe direct method,Sklyarsky must establish a
prima facie case ofetaliation by showing that{l) he engaged in a stdbrily
protected activity;(2) he suffered amaterially adverse employment actioand
(3)there is a causal connection between the tiatgen v. Franciscan Skemp
Healthcare, Inc 630 F.3d 668, 673 (7tir. 2011). If Sklyarsky satisfies these
elements the burden shifts to thlarvardto produce a legitimate, neaetaliatory
reason for its actionsStephens v. Ericksporb69 F.3d 779, 786 (7th Cir. 2009)
Nichols v. Southern lllinois Universitiedwardsville 510 F.3d772, 785 (7th Cir.
2007) Harvard argues that Sklyarsky has failed sfgecify a proper adverse
employment action anddditionally fails to produce sufficient evidence to elsthb
that there is a casual connection between his engaging in a protected awti\atyya
subsequent adverse action.

a. Adverse Action

The standard for what constitutes an adverse employment action is more

flexible in a retaliation claim than in a discriminatidaim. Burlington, 548 U.S. at
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69; Lewis v. City of Chi. Police Dept590 F.3d 427, 437 (7th Cir. 2009). In the
context of a retaliation claim, adverse employment actasasnot limited to actions
that affect the terms and conditions of employmeBurlington, 548 U.S. at 69.
Instead, courts evaluate retaliation claims using an objective stanidard.herefore
retaliatory conduct is actionable if the “challengedandiare ones that a reasonable
employee would find to be materially adverse such that the employee Wweuld
dissuaded from engaging in the protected activByflington, 548 U.S. at 6/Henry

v. Milwaukee Cty.539 F.3d 573, 586 (7th Cir. 2008).

Sklyarsky assertsthat all disciplinary actions taken by his two supervisors
stretching back to 2010 should be considered for the purposes of proving the adverse
employment action requirement of his tettion claim. Sklyarsky interprets the
inclusive adverse employment action requirement undétl@ VIl retaliation claim
too broadly. To sustain a retaliation clai8klyarsky must have engaged in some
protected activity, prior to an employer's adweractions taken in retaliation for
exercising his right to engage in protected activiBee Nagle v. Village of Calumet
Park, 554 F.3d 1106, 1122 (7th Cir. 2009) (employer must have actual knowdédge
the protected activity in order for its decisiond&retaliatory).

Although Sklyarskys earliest EEOC filing was on August 11, 201Be
evidence does not show that anyahélarvard let alone his supervisors who imposed
the sanctionsknew about the EEOC filing oany allegations of discrimination.t

cannot be assumed that Stosic was clairvoyant about Sklyarsky’s subjeetings
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of discrimination when she assesseduh#gten warning on October 28, 2011 he
same is true fogklyarsky’sDecember 7, 2011 retaliation claim filed with the EEOC.
There is no evidence that Harvaod Karpieaz, had any indication of Sklyarsky claim

of discrimination when Karpiez issued the March 22, 2012 written warning
concerning Sklyarsky’s substandard woktobgood v. lllinois Gaming Bd731 F.3d
635, 642 (7thCir. 2013) (“The relevant time for knowledge, . . . is when the alleged
retaliation took place, not the time the protected agtaaicurred.”).

The first evidence in the record which mentions Sklyarskieelings of
discriminationappeas after Karpiezissued the March 22, 2012 written warninig.
Sklyarskys March 26, 2012 “Complaint about Discriminatory Actions . . .Htaman
Resource Manager Domligjehe expressed that he felliscriminated against.
Sklyarsky’s March 26, 2012 complaint gives Hadvactual notice of his subjective
feeling of discriminationdue to his Ukrainian origin.SeeTomanovichv. City of
Indianapolis 457 F.3d 656, 664 (7th Cir. 2009 (“Although filing an official
complaint with an employer may constg statutorily protected activity under Title
VII, the complaint must indicate the discrimination occurred because afational
origin or some other protected class.Following Sklyarsky’s March 2012 comjité
he received two suspensiotige fird on June 4, 2012 and the second on January 2,
2013, after which he was terminated on January 18, 2013. The Court deems both of
Sklyarsky’s suspensions and his subsequent termination as materially eadvers

employment actions which satisfy the second prohthe direct methods testee
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Ellis v. CCA of Tennessee, LL650 F.3d 640, 6507th Cir. 2011) (suspension);
Tomanovich457 F.3d at 664 (discharge). We now turn to the third and final element
causation.

To demonstrat¢he requisite causal connection inegaliationclaim, a plaintiff
must show “that the protected activity and the adverse action were noty wholl
unrelated.” HuntGolliday v. Metropolitan Water104 F.3d 1004, 1014 (7th Cir.
1997) The mere fact that orevent comes before another doesprove that the first
event cause the secorBermudez v. TRC Holdings, Ind.38 F.3d 1176, 1179 (7th
Cir. 1998). Other peripheral circumstances must also be present wasdnably
suggest that the two events are somehow related to and@haezek v. Exxon Coal
USA, Inc, 202 F.3d 913, 918 (7th Cir. 2000).

Sklyarsky simply asserts that tekose proximity between his engagement in
the twoprotected activities of writing a complaint to the Human Resource Department
and Filing a Charge of Discrimination on July 2012 serve as a sufficient basis to
establish a causal link.Sklyarsky is mistaken. Sklyarsky does not produce any
evidenceto suggest that the impeté any of the allegedisciplinary acts was his
enga@ing in a protected activity.Sklyarsky’s speculative arguments regarding the
suspicious timing of thenposeddiscipline is insufficient to establish a causal link.
Sauzek202 F.3d at 918 (“Speculation based on suspicious timing alone, . . . does not
sypport a reasonable inference of retaliation; insteachtdfai must produce facts

which somehow tie the adverse decision to the plaintiff's protected actions.”)
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Sklyarskycannot show that “but for” higrotected conduct, he would not have
been suspended or terminateBecause Sklyarsky has not established a prima facie
retaliation claim,it is unnecessary for us to reach the issue of pretebdrvard’'s
motion for summary judgment is granted. Sklyarsky’s motion for summary judgment
is denied.

[I. Discrimination in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981

Sklyarsky has brought a claim for national origin disanation and retaliation
under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981, in addition to Title VIThe factual allegations uedying
Sklyarsky’s42 U.S.C.8 1981 claims are identical to those underlying his Title V
claims. Courts employ the same substantive analgsisdiscrimination claims
brought under either Title VIl or 42 U.S.C. § 198Iohnson v. Green Bd. of Pension
& Health Benfits of the United Methodist Chuyat83 F.3d 722, 728 (7th Cir. 2013).
The Court hagpreviouslyconcluded that Sklyarsky’s Titlgll claims fails on their
merits Snce 42 U.S.C. § 1981 claims are analyzed under the s&me as Title VII
claims, Sklyarsky cannot succeed in Hi2 U.S.C.8 198Miscrimination or retaliation
claims. Harvard’s motion for summary judgment is granted. Sklyarsky’s motion for
summary judgment is denied.

[ll. Harvard’ s Counterclaim Seeking Sanctions under Rule 11

Harvard has moved for summary judgment, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 56, on their counterclaim of abuse of the pldicbcess under Rule 11.

Harvard maintains that Sklyarsky has perpetuated his lawsuit in bad daithef
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purpose of obiaing leverage over Harvard to force theacquiescece to his
demands. Rule 11() requires that an attorney or party “certify to the best of his
knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonalder uhe
circumstancesthat any pleding presented to the court is not presented for an
improper purpose, that the claims therein have a legafficisat basis, and the
allegations andother factual contentions have evidentiary suppodirherez v.
MadisonArea Tech. College321 F.3d652, 656 (/th Cir. 2003). “[A] court may
impose sanctions on a party for making arguments or filing claims that\areus,
legally unreasonable, withotactual foundation, or asserted for an improper purpose.
In particular a frivolous argument of claims one that is “baseless and made without
a reasonable and competent inquiryries v. Helsper146 F.3d 452, 4587th Cir.
1998) uotingTownsend v. Holman Consulting Cqrp29 F.2d 1358, 1363ih Cir.
1990).

This case marks Sklyarskysecond attempt to bring s@gainstan employer
alleging national origindiscrimination. Sklyarsky sued his previous employer ABM
Janitorial Servicedor essentially the same conduct alleged in the case at bar,
discrimination and retaliation under Tiddl. Sklyarsky v. ABM Janitorial Services,
Midwest 2012 WL 174647(N.D. Ill. Jan. 18, 2012). The previous case was
dismissedwhen ABM Janitorial Servicesnoved for summary judgment and the
district court found that Sklyarsky could not support his ddaild. at *11. Sklyarsky

appealed the dismissal of his case and the district’sogranting of summary
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judgment was affirmed by the Seventh Circuit Court of Appegitysarsky v. ABM
Janitorial Services, Midwes494 Fed. Appx. 619 (7th Cir. 2012).

The instantrecord indicates that Sklyarsky’s previotmay into Title VII
litigation made an impressioon him Sklyarskythreatenedoth of hissupervisors
Stosic and Karpre, with a lawsuit after they reprimanded him. His threatsuitfor
legal actionwere meted out i predctable pattern after receiving eadisciplinary
action. Like clockwork, Sklyarsky ould receive a disciplinary aotn and he would
turn around and claim that the discipline was a resulisafichination or retadition,
as opposed to the impropriety of his conduktter reviewing Sklyarskis rambling
and occasionallyincoherent letters submitted to Harvard’'fHuman Resource
Department and his Union representgtivés apparent that he subjectively believed
that he wasthe victim of discrimination, no matter how misplaced his belief was.
Sklyarsky thoughhe was the target of a grand conspiracggpress himbecause his
supervisors “saw him atheir strongest opponeht Sklyarsky’s viewpoint has not
supportechis discriminatiorand retaliation claims, and his skewed perspect@vmot
support the imposition of Rule 11 sanctions.

In reviewing Sklyarskys actions in the instant case and his past forays into
Title VII employment discrimination litigation, the d@rt recognizes a troubling
pattern of conduct. Initially, Sklyarsky fails or refuss to perform a specific
requirement of his positigras a janitor. Then Sklyarsky’s supervisor isshien a

reprimand for his failure to perform his joproperly. Sklyarsky contest the
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legitimacy of the reprimand as being againstrégpiirementsf his Union Agreement
and hesubmis the reprimand to the UnioWithout fail, theUnion declinsto pursue
the grievance on his behalf. In the absence of a formal Union protest, Sklyarsky
scampers to the EEOC to file a national origin dmseration claim, followed by
numerous retaliation claims. Sklyar&kyconduct demonstrateghat he uses his
Ukrainian national origin as an offensive weapon which he wields to exusse
blatant work place violations.The Court warns that any furthareritless lawsuits
would put Sklyarsky in peril of being placed on the Northern District of lllinois
Frequent Filer list of litigants who must meet seveegjuisite thresholds to éla
case.The Court denies Harvard’'s motion for sanctions
CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, Harvard’'s motion for summary judgment is

granted and Sklyarsky’s motion for summary judgment is dentitattvard’s motion

for sanctions is denied.

por Qe Plocaron

Charles P. Kocoras
United States District Judge

July 15, 2014
Dated:
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